
 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Fax: 01865 783195  Media Enquiries 01865 815266 
 

Notice of a Meeting 
 

Growth & Infrastructure Scrutiny Committee 
Monday, 9 August 2010 at 10.00 am 

County Hall 
Membership 
 
Chairman - Councillor David Nimmo-Smith 
Deputy Chairman - Councillor Nicholas P. Turner 
 
Councillors: Roger Belson 

Michael Gibbard 
Pete Handley 

 

Charles Mathew 
Anne Purse 

Keith Strangwood 
 

John Tanner 
David Turner 

 

 
Notes:  

Date of next meeting: 23 September 2010 
 
What does this Committee review or scrutinise? 
• Transport; highways; traffic and parking; road safety (those areas not covered by the 

Safer & Stronger Communities Scrutiny Committee); public passenger transport 
• Regional planning and local development framework; economic development; waste 

management; environmental management; archaeology; access to the countryside; 
tourism 

• The planning, highways, rights of way and commons/village greens functions of the 
Planning & Regulation Committee 

 
How can I have my say? 
We welcome the views of the community on any issues in relation to the responsibilities 
of this Committee.  Members of the public may ask to speak on any item on the agenda 
or may suggest matters which they would like the Committee to look at.  Requests to 
speak must be submitted to the Committee Officer below no later than 9 am on the 
working day before the date of the meeting. 
 
For more information about this Committee please contact: 
 
Chairman - Councillor David Nimmo-Smith 
  E.Mail: david.nimmo-smith@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
Committee Officer - Sue Whitehead, Tel: (01865) 810262 

sue.whitehead@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

 
Tony Cloke  
Assistant Head of Legal & Democratic Services July 2010 

Public Document Pack



 

 

About the County Council 
The Oxfordshire County Council is made up of 74 councillors who are democratically 
elected every four years. The Council provides a range of services to Oxfordshire’s 
630,000 residents. These include: 
 
schools social & health care libraries and museums 
the fire service roads  trading standards 
land use  transport planning waste management 
 

Each year the Council manages £0.9 billion of public money in providing these services. 
Most decisions are taken by a Cabinet of 9 Councillors, which makes decisions about 
service priorities and spending. Some decisions will now be delegated to individual 
members of the Cabinet. 
 
About Scrutiny 
 
Scrutiny is about: 
• Providing a challenge to the Cabinet 
• Examining how well the Cabinet and the Authority are performing  
• Influencing the Cabinet on decisions that affect local people 
• Helping the Cabinet to develop Council policies 
• Representing the community in Council decision making  
• Promoting joined up working across the authority’s work and with partners 
 
Scrutiny is NOT about: 
• Making day to day service decisions 
• Investigating individual complaints. 
 
What does this Committee do? 
The Committee meets up to 6 times a year or more. It develops a work programme, 
which lists the issues it plans to investigate. These investigations can include whole 
committee investigations undertaken during the meeting, or reviews by a panel of 
members doing research and talking to lots of people outside of the meeting.  Once an 
investigation is completed the Committee provides its advice to the Cabinet, the full 
Council or other scrutiny committees. Meetings are open to the public and all reports are 
available to the public unless exempt or confidential, when the items would be 
considered in closed session 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print 
version of these papers or special access facilities) please 
contact the officer named on the front page, giving as much 
notice as possible before the meeting  

A hearing loop is available at County Hall. 
 
 
 



 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

1. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

2. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note on the back page  
 

3. Speaking to or petitioning the Committee  
 

4. Call in of Decision by the Cabinet - Oxfordshire Residual Waste Treatment 
Procurement - Award of Contract (Pages 1 - 18) 

 

 In accordance with Rule 16 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules, the Proper Officer has 
agreed to a request from the following Councillors for a Call In of the Cabinet’s decision 
made on 27 July in relation to ‘Oxfordshire Residual Waste Treatment Procurement – 
Award of Contract’ 
 
Councillor Tanner 
Councillor Mrs Fulljames 
Councillor Brighouse 
Councillor Val Smith 
Councillor Stevens 
Councillor Pressel 
Councillor John Sanders 
Councillor Larry Sanders 
Councillor Purse 
Councillor Godden 
Councillor Goddard 
Councillor Patrick 
 
 
The Cabinet decision was to: 
 
award the contract for the treatment of Oxfordshire’s residual municipal waste to Viridor 
Waste Management Ltd and authorise: 
 
(a) the Director for Environment & Economy, after discussion with the Cabinet 

Member for Growth and Infrastructure,  to approve minor amendments to the 
form of contract, and any subsidiary or related documents, prior to its execution 
which do not modify substantial aspects of the contract or the commercial 
agreement with Viridor as outlined in the report; 
 

(b) the Director for Environment & Economy to sign any subsidiary or related 
documents arising from the contract; and 

 
(c) the Assistant Chief Executive & Chief Finance Officer to issue a certificate under 

the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997 (the Certificate).  
 
 



- 2 - 
 

 

The reasons given for the request are: 
 
“That the contract is not in the best interests of the people of Oxfordshire.” 
 
 
A copy of the report to the Cabinet (GI4) is attached, including Annex 1, but not 
Annexes 2, 3 and 4 which contain “exempt” information as described in Part I of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 as specified below: 
 
“3 – information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).” 
 
It is considered that in this case the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, in that such disclosure would 
prejudice on-going negotiations and disadvantage the company concerned. 

 

5. Close of Meeting  
 



- 3 - 
 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
This note briefly summarises the position on interests which you must declare at the meeting.   
Please refer to the Members’ Code of Conduct in Part 9.1 of the Constitution for a fuller 
description. 
 
The duty to declare … 
You must always declare any “personal interest” in a matter under consideration, ie where the 
matter affects (either positively or negatively): 
(i) any of the financial and other interests which you are required to notify for inclusion in the 

statutory Register of Members’ Interests; or 
(ii) your own well-being or financial position or that of any member of your family or any 

person with whom you have a close association more than it would affect other people in 
the County. 

 
Whose interests are included … 
“Member of your family” in (ii) above includes spouses and partners and other relatives’ spouses 
and partners, and extends to the employment and investment interests of relatives and friends 
and their involvement in other bodies of various descriptions.  For a full list of what “relative” 
covers, please see the Code of Conduct. 
 
When and what to declare … 
The best time to make any declaration is under the agenda item “Declarations of Interest”.  
Under the Code you must declare not later than at the start of the item concerned or (if different) 
as soon as the interest “becomes apparent”.    
In making a declaration you must state the nature of the interest. 
 
Taking part if you have an interest … 
Having made a declaration you may still take part in the debate and vote on the matter unless 
your personal interest is also a “prejudicial” interest. 
 
“Prejudicial” interests … 
A prejudicial interest is one which a member of the public knowing the relevant facts would think 
so significant as to be likely to affect your judgment of the public interest.  
 
What to do if your interest is prejudicial … 
If you have a prejudicial interest in any matter under consideration, you may remain in the room 
but only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence 
relating to the matter under consideration, provided that the public are also allowed to attend the 
meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise. 
 
Exceptions … 
There are a few circumstances where you may regard yourself as not having a prejudicial 
interest or may participate even though you may have one.  These, together with other rules 
about participation in the case of a prejudicial interest, are set out in paragraphs 10 – 12 of the 
Code. 
 
Seeking Advice … 
It is your responsibility to decide whether any of these provisions apply to you in particular 
circumstances, but you may wish to seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the meeting. 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



CAJUL2710R020.doc 

Division(s): 
COPY 

 
CABINET – 27 JULY 2010 

 

OXFORDSHIRE RESIDUAL WASTE TREATMENT PROCUREMENT – 
AWARD OF CONTRACT 

 
Report by Director for Environment & Economy and Assistant Chief Executive 

& Chief Finance Officer 
 

Introduction 
 
1. Oxfordshire County Council has been procuring a residual waste treatment 

contract to divert waste away from landfill in accordance with the Oxfordshire 
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy. In March 2007 the contract was 
advertised in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU). On 7 
September 2009 the Cabinet agreed the selection of Viridor as preferred 
bidder, and since then a process of clarifying and confirming commitments in 
the contract has been ongoing. The purpose of this report is to explain the 
nature of the contract and its financial implications including the allocation of 
risk between the council and the contractor, and to recommend the award of 
the contract to Viridor.  
 
Exempt Information 

 
2. This report contains information in Annexes 2, 3 and 4 that relates to a 

contract tender process in progress and is commercially sensitive. The public 
should therefore be excluded during consideration of Annexes 2, 3 and 4 
because its discussion in public would be likely to lead to the disclosure to 
members of the public present of information in the following category 
prescribed by Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended): category 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that information); and 
since it is considered that, in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, in that disclosure would distort the proper process 
of open competition and would prejudice the position of the authority in the 
process of the transaction and the council’s standing generally in relation to 
such transactions in future, to the detriment of the Council’s ability properly to 
discharge its fiduciary and other duties as a public authority. 

 
Background 

 
Context 
 

3. Annex 1 explains the drivers for the project and sets out the procurement 
process which has progressed from advertisement of the contract in March 
2007, through the competitive dialogue process under the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006. The procurement has been shaped from the outset by the 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

Oxfordshire Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy. This is a proactive 
strategy which looks at the whole municipal waste stream and has the waste 
hierarchy at its core. The county council and the district councils are delivering 
new collection services and waste infrastructure that is increasing recycling 
and composting and helping to reduce the amount of waste going to landfill. 
Oxfordshire achieved a recycling and composting rate of 48.75% in 2009/10 
and on current data this places Oxfordshire in the top quartile of waste 
disposal authorities for waste recycling and composting performance.  

 
4. The strategy also acknowledges there will be residual waste remaining and 

that value needs to be recovered from residual waste rather than sending it to 
landfill. . Recovering value from residual waste moves it up the waste 
hierarchy from disposal to recovery and will achieve sending virtually zero 
waste direct to landfill. 
 
Waste tonnage requirements 

 
5. The council as Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) has a statutory responsibility 

to dispose of the residual waste collected by the district councils under their 
statutory duties as Waste Collection Authorities. In 2009/10 Oxfordshire 
produced over 310,000 tonnes of municipal waste of which over 165,000 
tonnes was disposed of to landfill. The drivers for diverting this waste away 
from landfill and securing a contract to treat and recover value from residual 
waste are set out in annex 1. 

  
6. In the recent past there has been a reduction is waste arisings nationally. The 

county council has seen a reduction in household waste arisings of 
approximately 10% over 2 years. Whilst some of this reduction is thought to 
be due to waste reduction initiatives it is also likely that it is largely due to the 
recent recession. When the recession is over it could be that there will be a 
reversal of this recent trend and a resumption of historic trends of increasing 
waste arisings. While the joint waste strategy sets a challenging target to stop 
waste growth per person by 2012, over 55,000 homes are planned to be built 
in Oxfordshire between 2006 and 2026 and allowance needs to be made to 
manage this new source of municipal waste. It is anticipated between 130,000 
and 160,000 tonnes of residual municipal waste will require treatment and be 
sent to the energy recovery facility to be provided under the contract.  

 
 Progress since preferred bidder selection 
 
7. In September 2009 the Cabinet agreed the selection of Viridor as preferred 

bidder.  Since September 2009 the project team have been clarifying and 
confirming commitments in the final tender submitted by Viridor.  

 
8. The key issues that have required confirmation and clarification are described 

in annex 2 (exempt).The process included resolving the consequences of 
both the refusal of planning permission for the Ardley EfW by Planning and 
Regulation Committee in October 2009, and the publication by the council of 
revised lower forecast municipal waste tonnages than it had predicted before 
the call for final tenders (CFT).  

Page 2



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

 
 Key features of the contract  
 
9. Technical solution – under the contract Viridor will provide a 300,000 tpa 

energy recovery facility at Ardley. As set out in paragraph 6 above, the facility 
is expected to treat between 130,000 and 160,000 tonnes of the council’s 
residual municipal waste per year over the life of the contract. Viridor will use 
the remaining capacity to treat commercial and industrial (C&I) waste which 
will enable some of Oxfordshire’s C&I waste to be treated. The facility will 
divert from landfill at least 95% of residual MSW received and will generate 
22MW net of electricity, sufficient for at least 22,000 homes  The facility will be 
combined heat and power (CHP) enabled allowing future heat off take should 
suitable end users be identified.  

 
10. The outputs from the process are summarised in table 1 below. 
 
 Table 1 Outputs from the EfW facility  
 

EfW facility outputs Quantity and use/destination 
Electricity 22 MW net for sale to the national grid 
Metals 2% by weight of contract waste input. 

Will be sold for recycling 
Incinerator bottom ash (IBA) 24% by weight of the contract waste 

input. 86% of this will be recycled 
Air pollution control (APC) 
residues 

3.6% by weight of the contract waste 
input. To be disposed in hazardous 
waste landfill. 

 
11. Programme – Viridor’s current programme indicates that the detailed design, 

construction, and commissioning of the facility will take 38.5 months. This 
currently means that if planning permission is granted early in 2011 following 
the appeal, the facility will become fully operational in May 2014 following 
commissioning.  

 
12. Principles of the contract – the main features of the contract are set out in 

table 2 below.  
 

Table 2 Contract main features  
 

Contract principles Commentary 
Contract term The contract will cover the works period while the 

facility is being built and commissioned and a 25 year 
service period from the date that the treatment service 
starts. The contract also includes an option to extend 
of up to 10 years. 

Funding, contract 
structure and 
guarantees 

The capital investment will be fully corporately funded 
by the Pennon Group, with funding provided in as 
both senior and subordinated debt. The contract will 
be between the council and a special purpose vehicle 
(SPV) that Viridor will set up specifically to build and 

Page 3



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

operate the facility. The contract will ensure that the 
SPV will have appropriate support from Viridor Ltd in 
the form of a parent company guarantee.  
 
The SPV will have two main sub-contracts; an EPC 
sub contract with a joint venture set up by the 
technology and civil engineering providers (CNIM and 
Clugston) to build the facility, and an operations and 
maintenance (O&M) contract with Viridor Waste 
Management Limited to run the facility. The project 
team is undertaking appropriate due diligence on the 
sub-contracts to ensure the arrangements are robust.  

Asset ownership During the dialogue stage of the procurement options 
were explored for the facility to revert to the council on 
expiry or earlier termination and for the facility to 
remain with the SPV. As part of the process of 
confirming and clarifying commitments, it has been 
agreed that the asset will now be retained by Viridor 
on expiry or earlier termination. This is advantageous 
to the council as it reduces potential liabilities for the 
council on termination for contractor default and for 
force majeure termination. The council will also have 
no residual liabilities for the asset when the waste 
treatment service period eventually ends. 

Authority 
requirements and 
performance 
management 

The contract specifies the requirements of the service 
for treating municipal residual waste and how the 
contractor’s performance will be measured using a 
performance measurement framework (PMF). Failure 
to achieve standards in the PMF will result in 
deductions from the unitary charge levied under the 
payment mechanism, and therefore incentivises the 
contractor to achieve good performance.  

Waste acceptance 
protocol (WAP) 

While the facility will be designed to treat residual 
municipal waste collected from the kerbside by the 
WCAs and from the waste recycling centres, there are 
some types of waste that are not suitable for 
treatment. The WAP sets out what these are e.g. 
plasterboard, mattresses and tyres, and the protocol 
for dealing with excluded materials and contaminated 
loads should they be delivered. The WAP has been 
developed in liaison with the WCAs through the OWP. 

Contract waste  Viridor will have exclusive rights to receive all 
Oxfordshire’s residual municipal waste that can be 
treated in the facility. Breach of this obligation will 
require the council to compensate the contractor so it 
is in a “no better no worse” situation as a result of the 
breach. In order to ensure that the council meets this 
obligation agreements with each of the WCAs to 
deliver residual waste have been developed through 
the OWP. Agreements are expected to be signed by 

Page 4



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

all the district councils by the time of the Cabinet 
meeting. Additionally as Waste Disposal Authority the 
county council has the legal power to direct Waste 
Collection Authorities.  
 
The commitment to deliver all residual waste will not 
prevent continuing work to reduce waste and to 
further increase re-use, recycling and composting.  
 
The contract details the current baseline for the waste 
materials collected by the WCAs which is in line with 
the Oxfordshire Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy. Under the contract any departure from the 
baseline could be dealt with as an authority change. 
The district councils as WCAs have confirmed they 
are in agreement with this position, and it will not 
affect continuing campaign work to encourage waste 
reduction, recycling and composting.  

Payment 
mechanism 

The basis for payment is a monthly unitary charge 
which is then adjusted using a formula set out in the 
payment mechanism. Adjustments include deductions 
for performance failures, failure to achieve the 
contracted diversion rates and non acceptance of 
waste.  
 
The payment mechanism will provide a share of 
excess third party income, such as from electricity 
generated and sold and gate fees from commercial 
and industrial waste processed. It will also provide a 
share of excess profit generated through cost 
reductions achieved throughout the contract period. 
 
The payment mechanism operates on the basis of 
exclusivity and not through guaranteeing a minimum 
tonnage. Further details about the payment 
mechanism are in annex 3 (exempt).   
 

Variations to the 
contract 

The contract includes a protocol for dealing with 
requests to change the contract from either party. 
OCC would be liable for any additional costs arising 
from a change it requests. 

Changes in 
legislation 

A qualifying law is generally a change in law which is 
not foreseen at the date of the contract and can be; 
• Specific to the contract and/or the contractor 
• Specific to the provision of the works and/or 

services or relates to emissions, generation of 
power or the permitting of the facility 

• In respect of the council’s best value duties. 
The council will take the risk of costs associated with 
any change because the change would not otherwise 

Page 5



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

affect the contractor if it were not for the contract 
being in place. This is in accordance with standard 
practice.  
 
Additionally the contract includes a foreseeable 
change in law list which takes into account new laws 
which can be foreseen at the date of the contract but 
which cannot be priced. The council also accepts risk 
on those changes being implemented.   

Insurance The contract specifies that the contractor takes out 
and maintains certain insurances. If at any time during 
the contract term insurance becomes unavailable, the 
council may become insurer of last resort if the 
council wishes the facility to continue to operate and 
provide the service. This is a standard provision in 
major waste infrastructure contracts. 

Planning and permit 
risk 

The contract includes a schedule which sets out a 
protocol and provisions should the applications for 
planning permission or the environmental permit fail. 
A contingency has been included in the contractor’s 
financial model for meeting the costs of an appeal.  
 
If planning permission is successfully achieved but 
has conditions attached that are unsatisfactory or 
require architectural enhancements the council would 
be liable to meet the additional costs of these.  
 
If the contractor is unable to secure a satisfactory 
planning permission the contract allows for 
consideration of a revised project plan or force 
majeure termination for which a capped amount of 
compensation would be payable by the council.  
 
The environmental permit application has been 
progressed by the Environment Agency. At the end of 
June the Agency published the draft permit and 
decision notice confirming that they are minded to 
approve the application.  

Default and 
termination 

The contract sets out the circumstances where either 
party would be in breach of the contract. The council 
would be in default though failure to pay for the 
service or breach of its obligations under the contract. 
The contractor would be in default through breach of 
a number of provisions in the contract including failure 
to start the service by the longstop date for service 
commencement, failure to process waste by energy 
recovery for an agreed period, non-acceptance of 
waste for longer than specified periods of time, and 
various other breaches of the contractor’s obligations. 
 

Page 6



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

The compensation payable for authority default, 
contractor default or force majeure termination varies 
according to the circumstances and the method of 
calculating the amount is set out in the contract.  
 
The council may voluntarily terminate the contract. 
However, this would involve significant compensation 
which would be calculated according to the contract.   

 
13. Relationship with the WCAs – as referred to in table 2 above, it is important 

that the district councils as WCAs deliver the residual waste they collect to the 
facility (directly or via a transfer station) in order for the council to meet the 
exclusivity obligations in the contract. In order for the facility to operate 
efficiently the WCAs will also need to comply with the waste acceptance 
protocol and site operational requirements. The WCAs are all expected to 
have signed agreements with the council as WDA by the time of the Cabinet 
meeting confirming they will deliver their residual waste to the facility and 
comply with site instructions issued by the contractor. The agreements are 
similar to those for the food waste treatment contract.  
 
Analysis of the contract position 

 
Risk transfer 

 
14. Throughout the procurement process the principle has been adopted that 

risks should be taken by the party best able to manage them. The allocation 
of risks between OCC and the contractor is set out in detail in annex 4 
(exempt). In agreeing the share of risk with the contractor the starting point 
has been HM Treasury’s Standardisation of PFI Contracts version 4 (SoPC4) 
and the derogations approved by Defra for waste projects.  

 
15. OCC is accepting appropriate risks and the costs associated with these. 

These include if the council changes the specification, changes in design or 
external appearance through conditions attached to the planning permission, 
and failure to deliver waste and breach of exclusivity. The unitary charge is 
subject to indexation. The approach to mitigation of foreign exchange risk is 
discussed in annex 3 (exempt). 

 
16. The contractor will be taking the risks associated with the design and 

construction of the facility and any latent defects. As the contractor will retain 
ownership of the facility they will also retain liability for decontamination and 
disposal of the facility at the end of the contract. During the operation of the 
facility the contractor will take the risk of changes in waste composition 
resulting from consumer behaviour, changes in calorific value, failure to meet 
performance standards and non-availability of the facility.  

 
17. A number of risks will be shared between OCC and the contractor. The risk of 

variations in third party income is shared in that Viridor have guaranteed a 
certain level of third party income generation which is their risk. However, any 
variations (higher or lower) will affect OCC’s share of income generated 

Page 7



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

above the guaranteed amount. The costs of changes in legislation are the 
council’s risk.  

 
18. In relation to planning risk the cost of obtaining consents including the 

application process and appeal is met by the contractor and included in the 
financial model.  If the actual costs are below an agreed figure, the difference 
is returned to the council. Any costs associated with unsatisfactory planning 
conditions or architectural enhancements required by the planning permission 
will be met by the council and could affect the unitary charge. The potential 
financial implications of planning risks are considered in annex 3 (exempt). 

 
19. The project team considers that the allocation of risk as described above and 

in more detail in annex 4 (exempt) is appropriate given the proportion of the 
capacity of the facility to be utilised by Oxfordshire’s residual municipal waste, 
the retention of ownership of the facility by Viridor on expiry or earlier 
termination of the contract, and the balance between risk and overall price.  

 
Value for money  
 

20. In order to select Viridor as preferred bidder, a value for money assessment 
was undertaken to compare the final tenders submitted against a value for 
money (VfM) benchmark of a “do nothing” base case of the costs of 
continuing to dispose of residual waste to landfill. The assessment included all 
costs associated with the treatment solution and continuing to landfill waste, 
including the cost of landfill, landfill tax, LATs, haulage and transfer. This 
assessment has been repeated and is set out in detail in annex 3 (exempt). 
This VfM assessment has demonstrated that the proposed Viridor contract 
represents value for money to the council. 

 
21. In addition, in order to try to reflect the respective risks and potential for 

changes to costs and income, a number of sensitivities were run on both the 
cost of Viridor’s bid and also the do nothing case to provide a range of 
potential costs under each of the scenarios. The sensitivities were performed 
on the following factors:  
 
(a) Increases in landfill tax; 
(b) Increases in the forecast level of third party waste gate fees and 

electricity income;  
(c) Delay in planning determination; and 
(d) Increase and decrease in the foreign exchange rate. 

 
22. The sensitivity assessment demonstrates that taking into account the potential 

risks associated with each scenario, the contract with Viridor still represents 
value for money. Further detail of the sensitivities run is included in annex 3 
(exempt). 

 
23. In relation to funding of the Viridor bid, it has been confirmed that funding is 

available for this project and that the terms as proposed at CFT have been 
held and will be held under the terms agreed with the council. 

. 

Page 8



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

24. The project team has looked at how the contract compares with the market. 
On the basis of a high level comparison across other deals currently under 
procurement, the Oxfordshire contract gate fee and payment mechanism 
items compare favourably with other UK PPP/PFI waste contracts, further 
detail of which is included in annex 3 (exempt). 
 
Contract close options  

 
25. A key question for the Cabinet in reaching a decision to award contract is 

whether to close the contract in advance of the decision on planning 
permission being known. It is usual for PFI/PPP waste contracts to be closed 
before planning consent is secured and the Defra model contract includes 
drafting to inform an appropriate risk share between authorities and 
contractors in relation to planning risk. This provides certainty of the terms 
and conditions of the contract, certainty of the funding and the terms of that 
funding, and fixes the costs of capital expenditure subject to agreed 
indexation. If planning is ultimately unsuccessful and the contract is 
terminated, OCC would be liable to pay a capped sum in compensation, but 
these costs though significant would be relatively limited as construction 
would not have started.  

 
26. In comparison, if contract close were delayed, the council would not have 

certainty about key costs including increases in funding costs and/or sub-
contractors increasing prices. Even a small increase in the lending rate could 
make the contract unaffordable in terms of value for money. Increased costs 
would be payable over the life of the contract, which may be a significant 
amount compared to the costs of termination. These factors are discussed in 
more detail in annex 3 exempt.  

 
27. The public inquiry for Viridor’s appeal against Planning and Regulation 

Committee’s refusal of their planning application was held this month. Viridor 
took the necessary steps to prepare and present a robust case. Leading 
counsel, instructed by Viridor, has indicated that there is a reasonable chance 
of a successful outcome. However, this and the outcome of the application 
resubmitted by Viridor recently cannot be predicted and the council needs to 
be mindful that, in accordance with the agreed risk allocation in the contract, 
there are  risks associated with planning failure or unsatisfactory planning 
conditions as outlined above. 

 
28. In conclusion, the project team considers that the contract provides value for 

money now and compares well against other similar procurements. There are 
significant risks and uncertainties associated with delaying contract close 
which are considered to outweigh the cost of termination should planning 
permission not be achieved. Therefore the project team consider that the 
contract should be closed as soon as it is feasible. 

 
29. There are limited options if the contract is not awarded. It is likely that a new 

procurement would be launched which would take 3-5 years to complete and 
cost in the region of £3m, with follow on delays to facilities becoming 

Page 9



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

operational and the consequential costs of landfill, LATs and landfill tax in the 
meantime.  

 
30. It is likely that the cost of land filling will increase significantly as landfill tax 

replaces LATS as the primary driver to divert waste from landfill in the next 
few years. Every £8 increase in the landfill tax escalator equates to just over 
£1m unbudgeted annual pressure. Securing a new contract could also be 
significantly more expensive to the council and as landfill cost increase the 
VfM position also increases allowing for costs to significantly escalate whilst 
still remaining VfM. All cost increases will be unbudgeted for and an additional 
cost burden to the council. 

 
Environmental considerations 

 
31. The environmental benefits which entering into the contract should achieve 

have been discussed in previous reports to Cabinet. Of particular significance 
is that together with the continuing improvements in recycling and composting 
performance, and investment in new infrastructure and collection services, the 
level of diversion that this contract will deliver will achieve virtually zero waste 
direct to landfill. It will move waste up the waste hierarchy from disposal to 
recovery, implementing the Oxfordshire joint waste strategy.  

 
32. Recovering energy from waste supports the low carbon agenda and Viridor’s 

facility will be classified as a waste treatment facility under the Waste 
Framework Directive, which means it will be recognised as a recovery rather 
than disposal facility. The council’s own analysis using WRATE (Waste and 
Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment) demonstrated that 
technologies that produce electricity perform well in terms of global warning 
potential compared to other technologies. 

  
33. It has been reported previously that energy from waste technology is widely 

and safely used in many European countries and is increasingly being used in 
the UK. The Environment Agency will strictly regulate the operation of the 
facility and Viridor will require an environmental permit which will specify 
amongst other things the requirements for monitoring emissions from the 
facility. The Environment Agency have recently published for consultation the 
draft environmental permit for the Ardley facility and stated that they are 
minded to approve the application. In reaching their conclusions the 
Environment Agency have taken into account the views of the Primary Care 
Trust who have considered the implications of the facility for health. 

 
Conclusion 
 

34. There is a clear and strong need to divert waste from landfill in relation to 
environmental and financial drivers, as expressed in legislation and 
Government and local waste strategy. These drivers have been set out in 
previous reports to Cabinet and also here in annex 1. They remain unchanged 
and in some respects have strengthened with the increase in landfill tax which 
will help to encourage the diversion of commercial waste from landfill as well 
as municipal waste.  

Page 10



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

 
35. A residual waste treatment facility of the scale of the energy recovery facility 

that will be delivered through this contract is essential to provide a waste 
treatment service that meets stringent value for money benchmarks while 
meeting environmental drivers. The value for money assessment has been 
undertaken prudently and has taken into account appropriate sensitivities, and 
has demonstrated that the tender is value for money. The project team have 
looked at the balance between risk share and price and concluded that this is 
appropriate.     

 
36. Overall, the project team external advisors who include Defra, Entec, Ernst & 

Young LLP, and Trowers & Hamlins LLP have confirmed from their respective 
professional expertise that the proposed contract award offers both sound 
technical and business sense, and is competitive with current offers 
elsewhere in the U.K. The procurement process has secured a partner in 
Viridor that has the financial and operational capacity to deliver a service of 
quality and commercial viability. I agree with the conclusions of the project 
team that it is more advantageous, despite the risks and cost implications if 
planning permission is not successfully secured, to proceed to award the 
contract and achieve contract and financial close as soon as possible.   

 
Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997 Certificate 

 
37. It is a requirement of the contract that a certificate under the Local 

Government (Contracts) Act 1997 be delivered to Viridor. The Act was passed 
in order to overcome PFI lenders’ fears that contracts entered into by a local 
authority could subsequently be ruled “Ultra Vires” or outside the powers of 
that local authority leaving the lenders and counterparty without any remedy 
for any losses they might suffer as a result. The Act provides a procedure for 
local authorities to certify that they have the authority to enter into a contract 
and for the counterparty and any funders of that counterparty (in this case, 
Viridor) to rely on the certificate. The effect of the certificate is that in the 
unlikely event that the court were to set aside the contract on the basis that it 
was outside the local authority’s powers, then this is treated as an authority 
default giving rise to an obligation on the part of the authority to pay 
compensation 

 
Next steps 

 
38. Following the Cabinet’s decision and completion of the scrutiny process, the 

contract award notice will be published in accordance with the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2006 and will be followed by a ten day period stand still 
period before the contract can be signed. Unsuccessful bidders will be entitled 
to request a debrief at this stage. It is then intended to complete the contract 
in September. In the meantime any remaining confirmation and clarification of 
the contractual commitments will continue and will particularly focus on 
ensuring harmonisation of the legal drafting across the contract 
documentation including inserting details that can only be provided at contract 
close. To allow a limited amount of flexibility for this process to be completed 
the Cabinet is requested to delegate authority to the Director for Environment 

Page 11



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

& Economy to approve minor amendments to the contract and any ancillary 
documents which do not modify substantial aspects of the contract or the 
commercial agreement with Viridor as outlined in this report. The outstanding 
areas that remain to be finalised are set out in annex 2 (exempt). 

 
39. Subject to the timing of gaining planning approval, the facility is expected to 

become operational in 2014. A separate procurement will need to be 
undertaken by the council in advance of this for the transfer and haulage of 
waste to the facility. It is anticipated that this procurement will start in 2011 
and facilities will be in place by 2014 to coincide with the opening of the 
Ardley facility. The estimated costs of this new service were taken into 
account in the financial evaluation of the tender and in the value for money 
assessment. 
 
Financial and Staff Implications 

 
40. The total nominal values of the contract and the “do nothing” benchmark, i.e. 

landfilling over the 25 year life of the contract are greater than the current 
available budget identified in the medium term financial plan (MTFP). The 
main reason for this is that the contract and “do nothing” benchmark assume 
tonnage up to 2039 and the MTFP ends in March 2015. As such any tonnage 
growth will have to be incorporated as a pressure and subsequent savings will 
have to be found as part of the service and resource planning process. Any 
upside benefit from the share of surplus income could also be used to mitigate 
against any contract inflationary increase above that allowable in the budget 
setting process.  

 
41. For the period covering the MTFP sufficient funding is available to support 

both the contract and do nothing solution. As land filling has the greatest level 
of uncertainty in cost if landfill tax were to increase by a further £8/tonne this 
would immediately bring the MTFP out of balance by around £1m. 

 
42. Any further delay to the procurement will result in substantial cost increases 

which will impact adversely on the funding available within the MTFP. 
Financially closing the contract would ensure cost certainty, however, if 
planning fails would result in the council paying a substantial one-off liability in 
compensation for Viridor’s procurement and FX premium costs.  

 
43. The resources required to complete the contract award process have been 

identified and are available within existing budgets. 
 
44. The contract will require ongoing resources to ensure its effective 

implementation and management. As far as is possible this contract will be 
managed within the existing resources. However, a contract of this scale and 
complexity will require a dedicated internal resource and also depending on 
issues arising some external support may be required. 
 

Page 12



GI4 
 
 

CAJUL2710R020.doc 

RECOMMENDATION  
 
45. The Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to award the contract for the treatment 

of Oxfordshire’s residual municipal waste to Viridor Waste Management 
Ltd and authorise; 
 
(a) the Director for Environment & Economy after discussion with the 

Cabinet Member for Growth and Infrastructure,  to approve minor 
amendments to the form of contract, and any subsidiary or related 
documents, prior to its execution which do not modify substantial 
aspects of the contract or the commercial agreement with Viridor 
as outlined in the report; 

 
(b) the Director for Environment & Economy to sign any subsidiary or 

related documents arising from the contract; and 
 
(c) the Assistant Chief Executive & Chief Finance Officer to issue a 

certificate under the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997 (the 
Certificate).  

 
 
HUW JONES 
Director for Environment & Economy  
 
SUE SCANE 
Assistant Chief Executive & Chief Finance Officer 
 
Background papers:  Nil 
 
Contact Officer:  Andrew Pau, Head of Waste Management,  

Tel: (01865) 815867 
July 2010 
 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



GI4 

CAJUL2710R03_v10.doc 

ANNEX 1 
 
Oxfordshire residual waste treatment procurement – context and procurement 
process 
 

Introduction 
 

1. This annex explains the context and drivers for the procurements and describes the process 
that has been followed up to selection of Viridor as preferred bidder. It also describes the 
activities undertaken to inform people about the project as it has progressed.  
 
Procurement Context 
 

2. The procurement of residual waste treatment facilities is required to meet EU Landfill 
Directive targets and reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill. The Directive seeks to 
reduce substantially the amount of biodegradable municipal waste that is sent to landfill in 
order to reduce emissions of greenhouse gases, and in particular methane. Under the 
Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme (LATS), the council is allocated certain allowances 
relating to landfill of biodegradable municipal waste (BMW). The amount allocated reduces 
each year up to 2020. If the council landfills more than its allowances in any one year then it 
would need to purchase allowances from other Authorities at a price determined by supply 
and demand. It is possible no allowances would be available for purchase. In this case OCC 
would be liable for a fine of £150 per tonne of municipal BMW landfilled in excess of its 
allowance.   

 
3. In addition the Government has increased the amount of landfill tax payable per tonne of 

waste landfilled since the selection of the preferred bidder. Landfill tax is currently £48 per 
tonne and is increasing by £8 per year until 2014 when it will be £80 per tonne. This will 
place a significant financial burden on the council estimated to be approximately £1m every 
year.  

 
4. Therefore the prime purpose of the contract is to divert municipal waste away from final 

disposal in landfill sites to a treatment process that will enable value to be recovered from it 
in accordance with the waste hierarchy. The waste hierarchy sets out in simple terms how 
waste should be managed, starting with reduction at the top, then re-use, recycling, recovery 
and finally disposal as the last resort.    

 
5. Oxfordshire is implementing the waste hierarchy through the Joint Municipal Waste 

Management Strategy developed by the Oxfordshire Waste Partnership (OWP) and agreed 
by all the Oxfordshire local authorities in 2006. The strategy sets targets to reduce the rate 
of waste growth per household to 0% by 2012 and increase recycling and composting to at 
least 55% by 2020. In 2009/10 Oxfordshire achieved a recycling and composting rate of 
48.75%, and is expected to exceed the target of 51% for this year.  

 
6. In line with the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy, the council has facilitated the 

increase in recycling and composting rates through investment in infrastructure by letting a 
contract for food waste treatment. This contract has resulted in the delivery of an in vessel 
composting facility which opened in February 2010, and an anaerobic digestion facility is 
due to open in August/September 2010. A second anaerobic digestion facility will be 

Page 15



GI4 

CAJUL2710R03_v10.doc 

delivered in the southern half of the county. The council is also planning improvements to 
the waste recycling centres including reuse facilities. Together with improved waste 
collection service this is a significant commitment towards delivering the Oxfordshire Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy. 

 
7. However, the strategy recognises that waste reduction, reuse and recycling will not be 

sufficient in themselves to meet landfill diversion targets. Policy 9 of the strategy is to 
recover value from residual waste to meet LATS targets. The policy does not specify the 
technology to be used but states that it must be safe and not a substitute for re-use, recycling 
and composting. The proposed contract will implement this policy and is entirely consistent 
with it.  

 
Procurement process 

 
8. The Cabinet considered the outline business case (OBC) on 19 September 2006. Following 

an options appraisal of alternative technologies the OBC concluded that a business case 
could be made for treatment technologies involving energy recovery. However, no 
technologies were ruled out as it was recognised that their true costs and benefits would not 
be truly known until bids were made. The Cabinet authorised the start of the procurement on 
a technology neutral basis, a Public Private Partnership (PPP) style of contract, and using 
the competitive dialogue procurement process under the Public Contracts Regulations 2006. 

 
9. The contract was advertised in March 2007. The prequalification stage established which 

interested companies had sufficient technical and organisational experience and financial 
standing to be able to deliver the services required. Eight companies qualified and in August 
2007 were invited to participate in dialogue and submit outline solutions for how they 
would propose to treat Oxfordshire’s residual waste. The eight companies were – Cory 
Environmental, Covanta Energy, Global Renewables, Hills Waste Solutions, SITA UK, 
Veolia Environmental Services, Viridor, and Waste Recycling Group (WRG). Two of these 
subsequently withdrew from the procurement (Global Renewables and SITA UK). Six 
outline solutions were submitted in October 2007 and for residual waste treatment all 
proposed energy from waste technology involving incineration with energy recovery. 

 
10. On 15 January 2008, the Cabinet endorsed the selection of Viridor and WRG to participate 

in the detailed stage of the competitive dialogue procurement with solutions based at 
(respectively) Ardley and Sutton Courtenay. Both proposed 300,000 tpa EfW facilities. 

 
11. On 29 February 2008, the invitation to submit detailed solutions was issued to Viridor and 

WRG. Dialogue meetings were held with both companies to provide them with the 
opportunity to clarify the council’s requirements and to develop their solutions to meet these 
needs.  

 
12. The detailed solutions were submitted on 25 July 2008 and were then evaluated by the 

council’s project team. The evaluation confirmed that both companies had potentially 
acceptable solutions and that dialogue should continue with both of them. An intensive 
period of dialogue was then conducted from October 2008 to March 2009 to develop the 
detailed technical solutions and progress commercial and contract negotiations.  

 
13. The dialogue was closed in early April 2009. On 8 April 2009 both companies were invited 

to submit final tenders, which were submitted on 1 May 2009. The final tenders were 

Page 16



GI4 

CAJUL2710R03_v10.doc 

subject to rigorous evaluation using the technical, financial and legal criteria which were 
previously provided to the bidders. Details of the key characteristics of the tenders 
submitted by Viridor and WRG were set out in the detailed report to cabinet considered on 7 
September 2009.  The evaluation demonstrated that Viridor had submitted the most 
economically advantageous tender as assessed against the detailed published evaluation 
criteria and that their offer was acceptable to the council in terms of price and risk 
allocation. On this basis Cabinet resolved to select Viridor as preferred bidder on 7 
September 2009.  

 
Consultation and engagement 
 

14. A number of steps have been taken both before and during the procurement process to keep 
people informed about the project. These are as follows; 
 

• Waste debate – in 2004 the council ran a programme of public debates on waste 
treatment to raise awareness of the need for change. A wide range of views were 
expressed and both positive and negative aspects of energy from waste (EfW) were 
raised. However, no particular technology preference was expressed overall.   

• Consultation on the Oxfordshire Joint Municipal Waste Strategy – in June 2006 the 
OWP launched a countywide public engagement exercise “No time to waste” to raise 
awareness of and generate debate on the waste management issues facing Oxfordshire. 
The exercise was publicised through radio and bus advertising, and 17,000 booklets 
were distributed through libraries, leisure centres, council offices and other public 
building, and 15 road shows held throughout the county. The OWP received 891 
responses which were taken into account in developing the strategy. Most respondents 
(over 500) were concerned about the need for reductions in packaging and increased 
recycling. The responses included over 350 pre-printed Friends of the Earth responses 
which supported the use of Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) and in-vessel 
composting to treat residual waste rather than incineration. Of the other responses 53 
were against incineration, 43 were in favour of MBT, and 24 were in favour of 
incineration. 

• Presentations to other authorities – the project team offered all the district councils in 
Oxfordshire presentations about the procurement, and presentations were made in 2008 
to Cherwell, South Oxfordshire and the Vale of White Horse District Councils. A 
presentation was also made to parish councils in the Ardley area at the request of the 
local county council member.  

• OWP – the partnership has received regular updates about the project at OWP meetings 
and is represented on the project board and project team. The project team have liaised 
through the OWP with the district councils as Waste Collection Authorities on technical 
matters as the project has developed. 

• Web site – the “alternatives to landfill” pages on the council’s web site have been 
regularly updated and include a variety of questions and answers about the technology 
and procurement process and a dedicated email address for enquiries. 

• OCC member updates – a series of regular email updates have sent to all councillors 
during the procurement to keep them informed and explain progress. The Cabinet is also 
represented on the project board by two Cabinet members. 

Page 17



GI4 

CAJUL2710R03_v10.doc 

• Visits to facilities – visits to waste facilities have been made before and during the 
procurement. In 2006 officers and members from the OWP visited an EfW plant, 
materials recovery facility (MRF) and windrow composting in Hampshire, an MBT 
plant in east London, and in-vessel composting facilities in north London and 
Buckinghamshire.  As part of the procurement process, key members of the project team 
visited reference EfW plants given by the two bidding companies at the invitation to 
submit detailed solutions stage of the procurement as similar to their proposals for 
Oxfordshire. The visits were also attended by the Deputy Leader of the Council on 
behalf of the project board. More recently, the Cabinet member for Growth and 
Infrastructure has visited two EfW plants and a MRF in Hampshire. A team consisting 
of the Head of Waste Management and the council’s technical advisors visited a plant in 
Belgium to view the boiler system that is proposed for the Ardley facility in use.  

 
15. Public consultation on the planning application for the Ardley facility was undertaken by 

planning officers and the responses to these were considered by the Planning and 
Regulation Committee in determining the application. Viridor has taken steps to keep local 
people informed about their proposals, for example by holding public exhibitions and 
writing to local stakeholders. Consultation has recently been carried out on Viridor’s revised 
planning application and the results of this consultation will be reported to Planning and 
Regulation Committee in due course. The Environment Agency has also undertaken 
consultation on the application for the environmental permit for the facility and has recently 
published for consultation the draft environmental permit they are minded to issue. 

 

Page 18


	Agenda
	4 Call in of Decision by the Cabinet - Oxfordshire Residual Waste Treatment Procurement - Award of Contract
	CA_JUL2710R03


